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688
Jeffrey JOHNSON (I)
14 Dec. 1663.  Sam. Gocke of Great Wicocomako in Northumberland County, Virginia, gave and granted Jeffery Johnson, son of John Johnson, half of all of the land plantation and housing that he possessed.  John Johnson and Anne, his wife, were to be allowed full use of the land and housing for their own benefit during the remainder of their lives.  This was recorded on 20 Dec. 1666.
  

The land given to Jeffery Johnson by Sam. Gocke, his brother-in-law, had been given to Samuel Goche, son of John and Katherine Goche, by his uncle Jeffery Goche for love and affection.   Samuel was the husband of Ann Goche, Jeffery Johnson’s sister, and the father of John Gouch(e).
  Samuel was an overseer of probate of the will of Henry Wicker in 1669.
  Henry was born in about 1611.
  
19 May 1669.  Henry Wicker, in his will dated 19 May 1669, left Jeffery Johnson, son of John Johnson, one cow.  The will was proved and recorded in Northumberland County, Virginia, on 22 June 1669. 
 

16 July 1685.  Jeffery Johnson, brother of Peter Byram’s wife, was accused of abusing them while he was a guest in their home.

22 Oct. 1690.  Jno. Gouche, son and heir of Saml. Gouche sued Jeoffry Johnson in General Court in James City, Virginia. 

20 Jan. 1696/97.  Amicable settlement of the suit of Jno. Gouche, son and heir of Saml. Gouche, against Jeoffry Johnson (Northumberland County, VA). 

7 Apr. 1706.  John Gouch sold Richard Neale 150 acres in Great Wicco. parish of Northumberland County adjacent to Jeoffry Johnson and Vulcans Creek, the road by the church, etc. 

689
Anne ???
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Thomas WALKER Sr.

Thomas Walker was a nephew of Richard Walker.  Thomas had a brother who was also named Richard, as was one of Thomas’s sons.  The given name Richard would appear to have been an important one in the early years in America for the Walker family.
Richard Walker, Thomas’s brother, accumulated considerable land in Westmoreland County, Virginia.  When he died childless in 1664, he left his property to his wife and to his nephew, Richard, the son of Thomas Walker, Eunice’s ancestor.  Richard, the son, moved from Westmoreland to St. Mary’s County, Maryland, sometime between 1681 (his last appearance in Westmoreland County records) and 1698 (when he died in St. Mary’s County). 

23 April 1655.  Thomas Walker was mentioned in the will of William Medcalfe of Northumberland County, dated 23 April 1655, as owing him 400 pounds of tobacco and cask.  The will was proved on 20 Jan. 1655/56. 

20 Aug. 1655.  The Court for the County of Northumberland ordered that Deborah Allenson could sell hogs owned by her husband that commonly run on the plantation of Thomas Walker. 

20 Aug. 1655.  Tho. Walker was on the jury that heard the case of Tho. Hawkins vs. John Barnes (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

3 Oct. 1655.  Deborah Allen sold Thomas Walker seven hogs.  The sale was witnessed by Walter Weeks and Wm. Stanley and was recorded on 20 Oct. 1655 (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

22 Oct. 1655.  Tho. Walker was a witness to an agreement between Temperance Bradshawe, widow of John Bradshawe, and Robt. Bradshawe concerning the ownership of certain cattle.  The agreement was acknowledged and recorded on 20 May 1656 (Northumberland County, Virginia). 
 

22 Oct. 1655.  Tho. Walker was a witness to the agreement of Robt. Bradshawe of Mattapanye to convey 345 acres to Temperance Bradshawe.  This agreement was acknowledged and recorded on 20 May 1656 (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

27 Feb. 1655/56.  Richard Rice and Thomas Walker bought land from Robert Bradshaw and James Claughton on Mattopanye Creek.  The conveyence of land was acknowledged and recorded on 20 May 1656 (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

24 Jan. 1656/57.  James Claughton and Robt. Bradshawe appraised the inventory of the estate of Tho. Walker, deceased (Northumberland County, Virginia).  The inventory and appraisal was recorded on 23 Mar. 1656/57.  The total value of the inventory was 5498 pounds of tobacco. The inventory included the following items: 

· 2 old feather beds & old blankets

· 1 broadaxe & 2 chisels & a drawing knife

· 1 old frying pan

· the half of a plantation

· 1 cow and heifer

· a parcel of hogs

· 1 pot rack and spit

· a parcel of old iron

· a looking glass

· 1 gun

· 10 trays

· 2 bowls

· 1 suit of clothes, 1 Bible

· 3 kettles, 2 iron pots

· a parcel of old pewter & a tin pot

· 1 pestle, 1 stone jug

· 2 old trunks, 500 nails

· 2 1/2 barrels of corn

· a little salt in gourds

· 2 mats and a sifter

· 4 hens & a cock, 1 tub, 1 smoothing iron

· an uncertain Bill of Coll. Moore Fantleroys amounting to 1700 & cask

697
Elizabeth ???

21 Feb. 1655/56.  Mrs. Elizabeth Walker was among those whose oaths proved the verbal will of Thomas Hale (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

20 Mar. 1655/56.  Elizabeth Walker, aged about 48, made a sworn statement (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

13 July 1656.  Elizabeth Walker, Administrix of the estate of Thomas Walker, deceased, named Edward Williams her attorney in the matter of a suit between herself and Thomas Broughton.  This was recorded on 20 July 1657 (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

23 March 1656/57.  Elizabeth Walker, widow of Thomas Walker, deceased, was made the Administrix of his estate (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

23 March 1656/57.  Elizabeth Walker acknowledged in court a judgement that the estate of Thomas Walker was to pay 320 pounds of tobacco and cask to Coll. Jno. Trussell (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

23 March 1656/57.  It was ordered by the Northumberland County court that Elizab. Walker, Administrix of the estate of Thomas Walker, deceased, should pay 440 pounds of tobacco and cask to Mr. Hugh Lee. 

23 March 1656/57.  It was ordered by the Northumberland County court that Elizab. Walker, Administrix of the estate of Thomas Walker, deceased, should pay James Claughton and Robt. Bradshawe 120 pounds of tobacco and cask for their appraisement of the inventory of the estate of Thomas Walker. 
 

23 March 1656/57.  It was ordered by the Northumberland County court that a suit brought by Mr. George Colclough against Elizabeth Walker, widow of Thomas Walker, be dismissed since he failed to declare anything against her, and that he pay her 50 pounds of tobacco for her trouble. 

20 May 1657.  Mr. Tho. Broughton brought a case against the Administrix of the estate of Thomas Walker, deceased.  The case was continued until the next court (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

20 July 1657.  It was ruled by the Northumberland County court that the estate of Thomas Walker owed Mr. Tho. Broughton 1600 pounds of tobacco and cask and that Elizabeth Walker, widow and Administrix, should pay the debt out of the estate. 

15 Aug. 1657.  Elizab. Walker was a witness to Tho. Sheppard, executor of the estate of Tho. Hale, deceased, selling his rights in a land patent to Thomas Broughton (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

27 Sep. 1657.  Elizabeth Walker, Administrix of the estate of Thomas Walker, deceased, appointed her loving friend Edward Williams as her attorney in the matter of the debt due Richard Rice from the estate.  This was witnessed by James Claughton and recorded on 20 Jan. 1657/58 (Northumberland County, Virginia). 

24 Nov. 1657.  Edward Williams, attorney of Elizabeth Walker, relict and adminstrix  of Thomas Walker, deceased, acknowledged the debt of the estate to Richard Rice of 635 pounds of tobbaco and cask (Northumberland County, Virginia). 
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698
Robert JEFFERIES


About 1638.  Born. 
18 Mar. 1663/64.  Richard (X) Nelmes assigned 400 acres in Northumberland County, Virginia, to Richard Tedwell and Robert Jefferies.
  Richard and Robert began “… the first trading post here.”

24 Oct. 1667.  The 400 acres in Northumberland County, Virginia, owned jointly by Richard Tedwell and Robert Jefferies was divided. 

By 24 Oct. 1667.  Married Alice Nelmes. 
1668 or 1669.  Robert Jefferis registered the mark for his cattle and hogs in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

28 Feb. 1669/70.  Robt. Jefferies witnessed the sale of land by Marten Cole to Richard Tedwell in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

Between 1667 and 1679.  Birth of son Edmund Jefferies.
Between 1667 and 1679.  Birth of daughter Mary Jefferies.

7 Feb. 1670/71.  Robert Jefferies witnessed a deed passing 100 acres from William Clements to John Browne and Adam King.  He also witnessed a curious statement of William Clements that, if he has a wife, she will acknowledge her right.  This was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

1 July 1673.  Robt. Jefferies witnessed Nich. Jenkins of Westmoreland County appointing Samll. Earle as his attorney.   On the same day, Robert Jefferies also witnessed Amye Jenkins appointing Samll. Earle as her attorney.  This was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia. 

18 Nov. 1673.  Robt. Jefferies witnessed Bridgett Earle appointing Geo. Hale as her attorney.  This was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

18 Nov. 1673.  Robt. Jefferies witnessed Ann Jones appointing Wm. Rust as her attorney.  This was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

25 Feb. 1673/74.   Robt. Jefferies said that he was about 35 years old in a deposition concerning Jno. Gardner, Robt. Midleton, Nich. Jenkins (who was dying), and a land purchase.  This deposition was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

19 Nov. 1675.   Jno. Bateman, a servant of Rob. Jefferys, deposed concerning Robert Powell and a hog that might have belonged to Nicho. Jones.  This deposition was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

30 July 1679.  Last appears in the written records of Westmoreland County, Virginia (see Westmoreland Order Book 1675/76-1688/89, p. 156).

After 30 July 1679.  Robert Jefferies left America for England.  What happened to him?  He is presumed to have died in England (although he might have died in transit, of course).  Since he owned property in America and was living in England, he should have filed his will with the Prerogative Court of Canterbury (PCC).  This does not appear to have occurred, however.  At least, his will was not among the following:
· Robert Jefferyes, Gent., Bromham, Wiltshire, whose will was written in 1680

· Robert Jeffiries/Jeffryes, Serg. in the Royal Marines, whose will was written in 1689

· Robert Jeffreys/Jeffryes, Royal Sailor, whose will was written in 1703

· Robert Jefferys, Freewater Man, whose will was written in 1705 

· Robert Jefferies, Gent., Purser of Her Majesties Ship Kent, whose will was written in 1711

These are the only PCC wills for Robert Jefferies (with spelling variations) filed between 1675 and 1725.  
After 30 July 1679.  Died in England. 

699
Alice NELMES

About 1646.  Born. 
24 Oct. 1667.  Relinquished dower in a division of land that had been deeded jointly by Richard Nelms to Richard Tidwell and Robert Jefferies.  This was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

19 Nov. 1675.   Ales Jefferys said that she was about 29 years old in a deposition concerning Robert Powell, his wife, and a hog that might have belonged to Nicho. Jones.  She signed “A I”.  This was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

1685.  Married William House.  According to Nancy Moore, Virginiana Manager, Central Rappahannock Regional Library, Fredericksburg, Virginia:
Alice Jeffries married William House in 1685.... The notice said that “Mr. Middleton informed the court that House & Jefferies had lived together for several years without being married & had several children and that Jefferies' husband was alive in England.” 

About 1685.  Birth of son William House. 
1685.  Questions raised about the legality of her marriage to William House (see Westmoreland Order Book 1675/76-1688/89, p. 453).
1687.  Questions raised about the legality of her marriage to William House (see Westmoreland Order Book 1675/76-1688/89, p. 623).
1687 - 1688.  Death of husband William House. 
1688.  Married Phillip Ahern/Hearne (see Westmoreland Order Book 1675/76-1688/89, p. 635).
Between 1688 and 1698.  Birth of daughter Alice Ahern.
1698.  Death of husband Phillip Ahern/Hearne.  His heirs were Thomas Hallwell (received one ewe), William House (received one ewe), daughter Alice and wife Alice (to share the remainder of his estate equally).

25 May 1698.  Will of Phillip Hearn proved in court.  Alice Hearn, asked for the administration of his estate, which was granted.  His will was recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

30 Aug. 1698. Walker vs Ahern:  Upon the Pshion of Thomas Walker and Mary his wife Daughter of Robt Jefferys and Alice his wife It is Ordered that the sd Alice now the reputed Widdow of Phillipp Ahern decd Doe appear at the next Court and enter into bond as good and Sufficient securities for the Estate of Robt Jefferys aforesd as it appeares to this court by Inventory of the Same now produced in Court and according to a former Order of this Court agt the above Phillipp Aherne.

29 May 1699.  Last appears in Westmoreland County records.
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James HARDWICK

James was probably born in Westbury, Somerset, England, in about 1647.
, 
 He died in 1698; he was about 51 years old.

The father of James Hardwick is Thomas Hardwick of Westbury, Somerset, England, and the mother is unknown.  The mother of James might be Joan, the last wife of Thomas of Westbury, or might be the unnamed first wife mentioned in Thomas’s will.  Although mentioned in the will of James Hardwick as having given James gifts of a sword and belt, Capt. William Hardidge was not his father, but rather was his first cousin.  Capt. William Hardidge appears to have died sometime between 29 November 1691, when he was confirmed as executor of the estate of Richard Sturman and 15 December 1694, when Henry Cotterdale of Bristol, England, appointed Lewis Markham his attorney to recover property, etc., that William Hardidge, decd., owed him.  Capt. William Hardidge and Elizabeth Hardidge, his daughter, it might be noted, are mentioned in the will of John Washington, where Elizabeth was bequeathed the watch that John Washington had received as a behest in the will of Capt. William Hardidge.  The will of Henry Ashton of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, which was dated 30-31 October 1711, identifies his wife as Elizabeth nee Hardidge, daughter and sole heir of William Hardidge, Gent.

16 May 1669. James Harditch, among others, was a witness at the enquiry into the drowning of Edward Chubb in the creek between the property of Lt. Col. Washington and Mrs. Margaret Harditch.  Based on the testimony of these witnesses, the drowning was ruled accidental. 
  Mrs. Harditch appears to have been the wife (or widow) of William Hardich (see the sale of land by William Hardish, Gent., of Nomony in Westmoreland County to Richard Sturman, 10 October 1659 
).

13 September 1670. James Hardwick and Thomas Foster of Westmoreland County acquired 200 acres at the head of the Nomenie River in Copeley Parish from Henry and Sarah Durant.  The transfer was signed by Henry (X) and Sarah (X) Durant, and was witnessed by William Overed and Thomas Barrett.  The transfer was acknowledged by Henry Durant and his wife, Sarah, on 28 September 1670. 

26 November 1670.  Henry and Sarah Durant sold 100 acres to Richard White.  The land appears to adjoin that purchased from the Durants by James Hardwick.

14 December 1670.  Thomas Foster transferred to James Hardich his interest in 200 acres purchased by Foster and Hardich from Henry Durant.  The transfer was signed by Thomas (X) Foster, and witnessed by William Overett and Thomas Barrett.  The transfer was acknowledged by Thomas Foster on 14 December 1670.

21 March 1671/72.  The inventory of the estate of Thomas Foster was taken.  It was noted that there was a receipt from James Hardich. 

22 March 1671/72. James Hardich was a member of a coroner's jury that looked into a drowning death on the Machotick River. The finding of the jury was recorded on 17 April 1672. 

20 October 1672.  James Hardwick was one of the witnesses to the transfer of 100 acres from Randell Kerke to Henery Kerke. 

31 October 1672.  James Hardwick of Westmoreland County transferred his interest in the 200 acres acquired from Henry and Sarah Durant to Mr. William Hardidge.  This transfer was witnessed by Patrick Hannd and Luke Lanthon. 

18 February 1672/73.  Ja. Hardwich of Nominy bought a tract of land on Coss Creek from Danll. Hutt of Nominy in Copely Parish, Westmoreland County, for 6000 pounds of tobacco.  The deed was signed by Danll. Hutt and was witnessed by Robt. Morgan and Robt. Snowdell.  On 18 February 1672/73, Temperance Hutt, wife of Danll. Hutt, authorized her good friend, Henry Durant, to acknowledge the deed.  On 19 November 1673, the deed was acknowledged by Danll. Hutt and his wife. 
  

29 April 1673.  Danll. Hutt of Nominy appointed Capa. Jno. Appleton to acknowledge a parcel of land sold to James Hardwick.  This was recorded on 30 April 1673. 

9 October 1673.  Ja. Hardwick was on an arbitration panel in the case of Wm. Viccory, servant of Rich. Searles, who committed a "trespasse against his master."

25 February 1673/74.  Danll. Hutt received 6080 pounds of tobacco from Ja. Hardwick as result of a court order.  This was recorded on 25 February 1673/74.

4 March 1673/74.  Danll. Hutt stated before witnesses (Jno. How and Danll. Pilbrow) that his daughter, Ann Hutt, should receive the legacy specified in his will only if she made good on the sale of land which Danll. Hutt sold to Jas. Hardwick.  Sworn in court on 25 June 1674.
 

28 March 1674.  Jno. Holbrooks of Bristol, England, master of the ship "Sarah and Elizth." designated his friend, William Hardwich, merchant, as his attorney to obtain payment of debts owed by James Hardwich of Westmoreland County, among others. 

24 June 1674.  James Hardwich sold Temperance Hutt, widow of Danll. Hutt, the land acquired previously from Danll. Hutt and his wife, for 7000 pounds of tobacco to be paid the next October and in October 1675.  This was witnessed by Robt. Massey and Robt. Gibbs, and was acknowledged by Ja. Hardwich on 26 August 1674. 
 

24 June 1674.  Temperance Hutt of Nominy, widow, acknowledged a debt to Mr. Ja. Hardwich of 7800 pounds of tobacco.  A payment schedule was presented.  Part of the debt was for land purchased from James Hardwich.  This statement was witnessed by Ro. Massey and Robt. Gibbs and was recorded on 24 February 1674/75 

28 October 1674.  Ja. Hardwick, age about 27, stated in a deposition that Jno. HARRIS of Northumberland County came to him and demanded from him a horse purchased by James Hardwick from Dr. Mich. Decounty.  James Hardwick refused to deliver the horse.  Jno. Harris got a warrant and brought James Hardwick before Cap. Tho. Yowell.  This deposition was recorded on 28 October 1674. 

Tho. Yowell, Capa., stated in a deposition that Ja. Hardwich and Jno. Harris appeared before him and that each wanted the other bound over to the court.  Harris apparently made no rebuttal to the demand by James Hardwich, except that he agreed to go to Dr. Decounty. 
 

Sometime during 1677.  The corpse of Wm. Clarke was discovered dead by gunshot wound between his plantation and the place where James Hardwick lived. 

28 August 1695.  Jas. Hardwick was on the jury that valued the inventory of the estate of Mr. John Serimgem (or Scrimgen) on 28 August 1695. 

12 April 1676.  William Hardwich sold James Hardwich back the land purchased by James Hardwich from Henry and Sarah Durant and later sold by him to William Hardwich.  This was witnessed by Wm. Vaughan, and Jno. Cottheart, and was acknowledged by Mr. Wm. Hardwich on 12 April 1676. 
 

27 April 1677.  James Hardwich was a witness to the survey and sale of 200 acres by Randolph Kerke to John Willis and Henry Kerke. 

10 Nov. 1681 - 17 Jan. 1681.  James Hardwick was among the passengers on the Francis & Mary bound from Bristol to Virginia.
  He was likely returning to Virginia after settling his father’s estate.

28 Aug. 1684.  The following were all apprenticed in Bristol to James Hardwick of Virginia, planter, and then transported from that city to Virginia aboard the Francis & Mary:  

· Richard Day of Shepton Mallet, Somerset, broadweaver
· Mary Whitwood of Winscomb, Somerset, spinster
· Grace Hardwith of Wedmore, Somerset, spinster 

All were bound to James for five years.

24-30 Sep. 1684.  James Hardwick was among the passengers on the Francis & Mary of Bristol bound from Bristol to Virginia.
  

30 October 1695.  William Smith of Westmoreland County sold William Carr 200 acres in the forest of Nomony near the property of Mr. James Hardwick. 

7 February 1697/98.  The will of James Hardwick was dated 7 February 1697/98 and proven on 30 March 1698 in Westmoreland County, Virginia.  It names the following individuals:

· Son William (received land on which James Hardwick lived)

· Son Joseph (land, “wearing apparel,” silver hilted sword and belt given to James Hardwick by Capt. William Hardwick)
· Daughter Lydia Hardwick (received candle cup, ring, and land)

· Wife's daughter Anne (received one shilling)

· Wife Ann (personal estate)

· Thomas and James Hardwick (share of personal estate -- probably sons)

· Brother Joseph Hardwick (to take inventory of estate, along with Henry Asbury, John Wright, and Benjamin Blanchflower)

The will indicates that Joseph and Lydia Hardwick were not yet 14 when it was written.  Son William was named executor.  Witnesses were Tho. Thompson, Charles Smith, and Temp. Blanchflour.  The will was proved on 30 March 1698. 

27 April 1698.  The inventory of the estate of James Hardwick was presented for the record by William Hardwick.  Its total valuation was 20,883 pounds of tobacco, including one female slave, whose value was 5,000 pounds of tobacco. 
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Anne ARMSBY

Possibly about 1649.  Anne was born.  The death of her father left Anne an “orphan” (i.e., an underaged individual without a father).  William Churme was her original guardian.  In 1663, Ann Brodhurst became Anne’s guardian (this was later delayed until 1664).  Children could choose their guardians when they reached 14 years of age.  The change of guardians might indicate that Anne had reached the age of 14.
10 Oct. 1657.  John Wood of Westmoreland County, merchant, transferred 200 acres on the "freshes" of the Potomac River in Westmoreland County, Virginia to Ann Armsby.  The transfer was witnessed by John Nightingale and Rich. Browne, and was acknowledged by Wood on 20 Feb. 1657/58.
 

11 March 1662/63.  Based on a petition of William Churme, guardian of Ann Armsby, orphan, Ann and her estate were placed in the care of Mrs. Ann Brodhurst, godmother of Ann Armsby.  This occurred in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

24 February 1663/64.  The court ordered that the will not be proven nor administration of the estate of Rice Maddox be granted until the guardian of the “orphans” of John Armsby be interviewed.  This occurred in Westmoreland County, Virginia. 
 
27 April 1664.  The court ordered that Wm. Churme continue as guardian of Ann Armsby, orphan, until Mr. Brodhurst provide security for the guardianship. This occurred in Westmoreland County, Virginia. 

25 May 1664. Mrs. Ann Brodhurst gave the court security for the guardianship of the “orphans” of John Armsby.  This occurred in Westmoreland County, Virginia. 

31 August 1664.  Wilkes Maunder, security for the guardianship of Wm. Churme, was directed to deliver the estate of the “orphans” of John Armsby to Mrs. Ann Brodhurst. Wm. Churme was allowed 762 pounds of tobacco from the estate to cover expenses. This occurred in Westmoreland County, Virginia. 

20 November 1672.  James Hardwich of Nominy in Copely Parish, Westmoreland County, Virginia, and his wife Anne (nee Armesby), daughter and heir of John Armesby, decd., of Nomeny, sold 250 acres of land to Col. Nicholas Spencer of Nominie, Esqr., for 100 pounds sterling.  This land was inherited by Anne from her father, John.  The deed was witnessed by Jno. Appleton and Jno. Lewling, and was recorded on 12 April 1673.  On 20 December 1672, James and Anne Hardwich were required to post a bond for 200 pounds to warranty the deed.  This was recorded on 12 April 1673.  On 10 February 1672/73, James and Anne Hardwich of Nominie in Cople Parish appointed James Gaylord as their attorney.  This appointment was witnessed by John Appleton and Jno. Lewlinge and was recorded on 12 April 1673.  On 12 April 1673, James Gaylord, attorney for James and Anne Hardwich acknowledged the sale of the land. 

After 7 February 1698.  Died.

1715.  A disagreement arose over the exact bounds of the 250 acres formerly owned by John Armsby and sold by James Hardwick and his wife Anne (nee Armsby).  The case was brought by an heir of Col. Nicholas Spencer and did not directly involve the heirs of John Armsby.

Two important people in Anne’s life were John Wood and Ann Brodhurst, the wife of Walter Brodhurst.  Who were they?
John Wood--

Who was John Wood, and why did he transfer 200 acres of land to Ann?  The first part of the question is easier to answer than the second.  Based on the following, John Wood appears to have been a real estate speculator.  At the time of the transfer, he was in his lower to mid 30s.  He was an associate of Walter Brodhurst, and perhaps his friend.  Walter’s wife was the godmother of Anne, the daughter of John Armsby.  Because of this, it is more likely that the transfer was to Anne, the daughter, than to Ann(e), the mother, although the daughter would have been only about 8 or 9 years old at the time of the transfer.

1 Aug 1653.   John Wood obtained a grant of 600 acres in Northumberland County beginning where the land patented by Tho. Phillips ends upon a branch of Nomany River, opposite to Mr. Rosiers land.

15 Oct 1653.  John Wood obtained a grant of 1200 acres in Northumberland County on the eastermost side of Pomony River opposite to the land of Lewis Burwell.

24 Mar 1654.  John Wood, aged about 33, deposed concerning the noncupative will of Hugh Jones giving his entire estate to Walter Brodhurst.
 

22 Jun 1654.  The will of Ann Sturman, widow of Thomas Sturman, gives son Richard a bill from Jno Wood.  John Wood and Walter Brodhurst witness and prove will. 
 

21 Aug 1654.  John Wood, aged about 29, deposed that Ann Sturman forgot to include executors in her will, but told him verbally later who they should be.
 

21 Aug 1654.  Geo Watts assigned a 300-acre grant in Northumberland County to Jno Wood.
 

1 Oct 1654.  Jno Wood of Westmoreland County, planter, leased Cuthbert Felpe of same 300 acres on which to plant an orchard.
 

12 ? 1653.  John Wood obtained a grant of 1200 acres in Northumberland County by the Nominy River.
 

12 Sep 1655.  John Wood sold this grant with crops and stock to Tho Bacon and Francis Sherwood.
 

1 Oct 1655.  John Redman deposed that he witnessed John Wood and Francis Sherwood sign a bill for tobacco, then heard Robert Sharpe and John Wood examined concerning the will of Hugh Jones, heard Mr. Brodhurst say that they must swear to their statements, but did not witness that happening.
   

20 Nov 1655.  Thomas Bacon and Roger Isham deposed concerning the oath that John Wood had made concerning the will of Hugh Jones (both reported that they had heard Ralph Elston say that the oath [Bacon] or testimony [Isham] was forged).
 

5 Apr 1656.   Cuthbert Felpe to Isaac Allerton, 300 acres granted him by Jno Wood for 7 years.
  

9 May 1656.  John Wood gave Jas Gaylard his Power of Attorney.
 

14 Jan 1656/57.  John Wood obtained a grant of 1000 acres on the south side of Patowmacke River, and behind the land of Mr. Roger Isham.

20 Mar 1656/57.  John Wood gives Walter Brodhurst Power of Attorney to sell 300 acres purchased from Geo Watts to Isaac Allerton.
 

31 Mar 1657.  Walter Brodhurst, Attorney of John Wood, assigns interest in 300 acres to Isaac Allerton, Jr.
 

15 Jul 1657.   John Wood obtained a grant of 500 acres bounding easterly upon Potomack River in the freshes above the narrows at Piscattaway southerly upon the land of Mr. Hugh Lee.

15 Jul 1657.   John Wood obtained a grant of 500 acres in Westmoreland County upon the head of Coscos, lying upon the head of Robert Yeo’s land.

15 Jul 1657.   John Wood obtained a grant of 300 acres bounding north easterly upon Yosococomoco Creek in Petomack freshes. northwesterly upon the land by him called John Tingies land.

15 Jul 1657.   John Wood obtained a grant of 300 acres bounding northerly upon Yosococomoco Creek, in Petomack freshes, northwesterly upon another seat of 2000 acres taken up by the said Wood.

15 Jul 1657.  John Wood obtained a grant of 500 acres bounding northeasterly upon a creek, in Potomack freshes beyond the land of Colo. Speake above the Doegs Island, southeasterly upon the land called Philpotts land.

29 May 1658.  Thomas Woodhouse and John Wood obtained a grant of 6000 acres.

1 Nov 1659.  John Wood gave Matthew Kemp Power of Attorney. 
 
1 Dec 1659.  John Wood sold Robert Lambdon and John Stoyell 3500 acres from a grant of 7000 [sic] acres.
 

1 Dec 1659.  John Wood gave George Watts Power of Attorney to acknowledge sale of 3500 acres.
 

25 Jan to 1 Mar 1659/60.  John Wood engaged Gervayse Dodson to survey 2000 acres for him.   Gervayse Dodson did so and then claimed the land for himself.  Wood objected and got the land, which he acquired for Henry Corbyn.
 
9 Dec 1662.  Walter Broadhurst obtained a grant of 500 acres in the freshes above the Narrows of Pascataway formerly granted to John Wood on 15 Jul 1657.
  Given that Walter Brodhurst Jr. was probably too young for this transaction, it might have been one set in motion before Walter Brodhurst Sr. died. 
4 Mar 1662/63.  John Wood obtained a grant of 350 acres in Northumberland County on the north side of great Wicomoco River, being part of a patent of 850 acres formerly granted to Thomas Saffall, bearing the date 1 Jun 1654 etc., the said land bounded etc. NW on a creek formerly called Saint Jons Creek.

29 Dec 1669.  In his will, Roger Walters gave his daughter Sarah land by John Jones, Jno. Wood, and Mrs. Eliz. Nutt.
 

Ann Brodhurst--
Who was Ann Brodhurst, the godmother and later guardian of Ann Armsby?  Ann Brodhurst was the wife first of Walter Brodhurst.  Her maiden name is unknown, although some believe that it was Gerard.
  
According to the records in the Maryland online archives, Walter often was involved with Thomas Gerard.
  Thomas was not the father of Ann, however, if Lois Green Carr and John Walton are correct. 
   Dr. Thomas Gerrard “was banished from Maryland for taking part in the rebellion of Josias Fendall.  He settled at Machodick, Westmoreland county….”

Walter appears to have become embroiled in a struggle in Maryland between Edward Hill Sr. and Lord Calvert.  Hill was driven out of the state near the end of 1646.  

In August of the following [year], Mr. Broadhurst was charged with saying that “there is now no governor in Maryland for Captain Hill is governor, and him only he acknowledged.” 

Walter Brodhurst/Broadhurst died in early 1659.  The widowed Ann married Henry Brett, a merchant from Plymouth, England, sometime between 6 Sep 1665 and 27 Sep 1667.  In 1669, after Henry’s death, she married Col. John Washington.  She was John’s second wife; they had no children.  She was not Ann Pope.  Ann Pope was the first wife of Col. John Washington, and was still alive and identified in a 1661 land grant as Mrs. Ann Washington, daughter of Nath’l Pope.  This was well before the widowed Ann Brodhurst married Henry Brett.  After Ann Brodhurst Brett Washington’s death in 1675, John took a third wife.  Before Ann died, her surviving son, Walter Brodhurst Jr., along with the young son of her deceased eldest son Gerrard Brodhurst, left Virginia for England, where they lived out their lives.

Walter Brodhurst, Ann’s first husband, was the son of William Brodhurst of Lilleshall, Shallop, England. 
   Walter arrived in Maryland in 1638 with two servants.  He probably married Ann in Maryland prior to 1650.
   Walter had moved from Maryland to Virginia by the end of 1650. 
   In a 30 Aug 1655 deposition, he stated that he was about 36,
 so he was about the same age as John Wood.  Walter’s will was dated 26 Jan 1658/59 and proved 12 Feb 1658/59.  Son Gerrard was to inherit his father’s land; if he died without children, then the land was to go to son Walter, and if he died without children; then to daughter Elizabeth.  Wife Ann was to be executrix.  If Ann remarried, then Thomas Gerrard, Nathaniel Pope, and Robert Slye were to be overseers of his children.


[image: image4.png]



702
George BROWNE

NB:  

(1) All references to George Browne/Brown might not be to the same person.  Some references may be to the father, others to his son, and still others to another person.

(2) All actions were recorded in Westmoreland County, Virginia.

15 Feb. 1657/58.  George Browne was a witness of a transfer of goods and chattels from Elizabeth Hallowes, administrator of the estate of the late John Hallowes of Westmoreland County, to Capt. Thomas Cornwalleys and Wm. Hardich. 
 

1 Jan. 1658/59.  George Browne was a witness of a statement by William Peirce concerning his satisfaction that debts owed him by Richard Kenner had been paid.  George Browne appears to have also been the person providing the security for Richard Kenner's debt. 

1 Dec. 1659.  George Browne was a witness to the will of Thomas Speke, which was dated 1 Dec. 1659. 

19 June 1661.  George Browne was a witness to the sale of land by William Overed to John Bedell. 

20 June 1661.  George Browne was a witness to William Overed appointing John Ryves as his attorney for a land transaction. 

5 Aug. 1661.  George Browne was a witness to Margaret Overed, wife of William Overed, relinquishing her rights to the land that William sold to John Bedell. 

1661.  George Browne is among those mentioned in the Estate Account for the late Col. Speke (recorded 7 Aug. 1661) as having been paid by the estate. 

12 July 1662.  William Overed of Nomenie in Northumberland County, planter, gave five cows to his "daughter-in-law", Frances Browne (nee Rowland) who had intermarried with George Browne, a tailor, and to her husband.  This gift was witnessed by John Ryves and Richard Fowke, and was recorded 28 Aug. 1662. 

1 Feb. 1662/63.  William Overed of Nomony, planter, gave his "daughter-in-law", Frances Rowland, and her husband, a tailor, 400 acres at the head of the Nomony River.  This was land had been granted William Overed on 10 Sep. 1658.  The deed of gift was witnessed by Thomas Doyce and Thomas Lane.  It was recorded on 11 March 1662/63. 
  According to "Donald Lines Jacobus on Terms of Relationship," National Genealogical Society Newsletter, Nov/Dec 1986, "daughter-in-law" in earlier times might be used to refer to a stepdaughter. 
11 March 1662/63.  George Browne was on the jury that convicted Thomas Derrick of stealing hogs.
   

20 Nov. 1663.  George Brown was a witness to Thomas Dyas appointing Augustine Hall as his attorney for a land transaction. The other witness was Wm. Overed. 
   

22 March 1665/66. William Overett and George Browne received a patent for 400 acres in Westmoreland County.  The land was on branches of the Nomony River.  The land was received for the transportation of eight people to Virginia.  The patent was recorded on 24 June 1668. 
    

22 March 1665/66.  Randolph Kirke received a patent for 1000 acres adjoining the patent of William Overed and George Browne. 

1668 or 1669.  Recorded sometime in 1668 or 1669, Jorge Browne was acknowledged as being owed money by the estate of Mr. Hull.
 

9 March 1669/70.  George Browne of Nomenie in Westmoreland County, tailor, sold 200 acres (part of 400 acres patented by Browne and Wm. Overed) to Andrew Reade of Nomenie, planter.  The deed was signed by both Georg (X) Brown and Frances (X) Browne.  The deed, along with all other related documents, was recorded on 25 May 1670.  The deed was acknowledged by the attorney for Frances Browne (i.e., William Overed) and by George Browne on 25 May 1670. 
   

9 Nov. 1670.  Recorded on 9 Nov. 1670, George Brown was on a list of those owing money to the estate of the late John Whiston. 

13 Jan. 1670/71.  Randolph Kirke of Nominy in Westmoreland County, VA, planter, sold Peter Dunkin 450 acres adjoining the land of William Overed and George Browne. 

2 March 1670/71.  A jury including George Browne concluded that Martin Cole died by accidental drowning.  The conclusion of the jury was recorded on 15 March 1671. 

30 Aug. 1671.  The grant of 400 acres to William Overet and George Brown, along with Overet's assignment of his portion to Elizabeth Watkins, was recorded. 

27 Aug. 1672.  Geo. Browne was among those who took the inventory of the estate of Mrs. Ann Hull.  Wm. Overitt also took part in the inventory.
  

22 June 1673.  Geo. Browne was a witness to a gift of a slave by Jno. Frodesham to Tho. Yowell.
  The description of this gift is very confused.

29 May 1674.  Geo. Browne was among those who took the inventory of the estate of Jno. Smith.  Wm. Overitt also took part in the inventory. 
   

1673-1674.  Heirs mentioned in the will of Wm. Overitt, dated 10 Oct. 1673 and proved 28 Oct. 1674, include Elizabeth Browne, daughter of Geo. and Frances Browne, who was to receive a three-year-old cow with a calf, and Tho. Browne, son of Geo. and Frances Browne, who was to receive a one-year-old mare foal.  Other heirs include Tho. and Wm. Stradder, Jno. Dusitt, a servant of Wm. Overitt, and Patience, the child of Jno. and Deborah Whetstone. 
  

23 Feb. 1674/75.  Geo. Browne was a witness to Robt. Falmouth of Apsome in the County of Devon, mariner, designating friend Edwd. Franklyn as his attorney. 

29 July 1675.  Geo. Browne was among those listed as having "judgments for goods bought at an outcry belonging to Jno. Harris, deceased,...".  Recorded 25 Aug. 1675. 

27 May 1696.  George Browne was among those identified as owing money/tobacco to the estate of Nathaniel Piecroft, deceased(?).
 

Circa 1697.  The will of Andrew Read of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, left his son Andrew 200 acres purchased from George Browne in 1660 or 1670.
 

12 Mar 1697/1698.  George Barrett of Matapange in Northumberland County sold 200 acres, which were part of the grant to Wm. Overett and George Browne that William Overtt sold to Elizabeth Watkins on 12 May 1668, to William Carr of Youcomoco, Westmoreland County, for 5000 pounds of tobacco and 10 shillings. 
   

25 Nov. 1701. George Brown was a witness to a sale of 200 acres in the forest of Nominy by James Orchard, Gent., of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, to Hugh Money, planter. 
   

Nov. 1701.  Geo. Brown was among those who took the inventory of the estate of Robert Road.  The inventory was returned on 26 Nov. 1701.
 

1702.  George and Thomas Brown were among those who took the inventory of the estate of Luke Dement.  The inventory was returned on 29 April 1702. 
  

1704.  George Brown appears to have been a purchaser at the auction of the estate of Patrick Spence, deceased on 16 Feb. 1703/04. 

23 Aug. 1704.  George Brown was a member of a jury that went out with the surveyor in a land case between John Gerrard, plaintiff, and William Carruthers, defendant. 

22 Nov. 1706.  The Northern Neck Proprietors granted George Brown 109 acres originally granted to Thomas Glover, who assigned his right and title to Brown.  The cost was an annual rent of 1 shilling sterling per year per 50 acres.  The land adjoins land of George Brown/Browne.  On 24 June 1713, this land was transferred from George Browne of Westmoreland County to John Fryer "[f]or a valuable consideration".  This transfer was witnessed by Daniel Neale and Francis Awbrey. 
  

1 April 1707.  George Brown was among those who petitioned for a new courthouse in Westmoreland County.  The petition was recorded on 1 April 1707. 

1708-9.  George Brown was apparently accused of trespassing (i.e., using land that was not his to use) by William Robinson.  On 7 July 1708, a jury 12 men met with a surveyor on the land in dispute and found for George Brown.  Their finding was recorded on 28 Feb. 1708/09.   The surveyor's report, dated 5 July 1708, was recorded 25 Feb. 1708/09.
 

22 Jan. 1712/13.  Joseph Beale of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, sold land to John Erwin that adjoined land of George Brown.

5 Oct. 1712.  Thomas Willkinson of Charles County, MD, and his wife Elizabeth sold Thomas Glover 100 acres for 2500 pounds of tobacco.  The land was part of the grant to George Brown and Elias Morriss.   Thomas and Elizabeth Willkinson made George Brown their attorney in this transaction on 5 Oct. 1712. 
  

26 May 1713.  Willm. Paine of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, sold 100 acres in Nominy Forest to George Browne of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, for 2500 pounds of tobacco.  The land adjoins land of George and William Browne, and is near the land granted George Browne and Elias Morriss.  The deed was witnessed by Wm. Dare, Patr. Spence, and Wm. Fryer.  On 26 May 1713, a bond for 5000 pounds of tobacco by Wm. Paine to George Brown was entered into.  On 27 May 1713, or thereabouts, George Browne was granted possession. 
 

26 May 1713.  Wm. Rice and his wife, Mary, of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County, sold 100 acres in Nomany forest to George Browne of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County.  The deed was witnessed by Wm. Dare, Patr. Spence, and John Fryer.  On 26 May 1713, or thereabouts, George Brown was granted possession. 

27 May 1713.  George Browne of Cople Parish and Westmoreland County sold Patrick Spense of Cople Parish and Westmoreland County 400 acres of land.  The land was part of a patent of 1200 acres granted to Margaret Miles in 1656, and is near the head of Rappahonnock Creek.  Witness to the deed were Wm. Dare, William Paine, and William Rice.
  

30 March 1714.  Patrick Spence of Cople Parish sold 100 acres in Cople Parish to Thomas Sheadrick.  The property was part of a grant of 1200 acres made to Marguritt Miles in 1656, and descended to George Brown "as the only heir apparent to Marguritt."  George Brown sold the 100 acres as part of 400 acres to Patrick Spence on 27 May 1713. 

23-24 Sep. 1714.  James and Anne Lane of Cople Parish leased John Erwin 154 acres in Cople Parish.  The land was on a stream opposite that of Wm. Overett's (currently held by George Brown or tenants). 

20 Sep. 1714.   George Brown of Cople Parish, Westmoreland County sold to Thomas James of Richmond County for 3000 pounds of tobacco all interest that he or his heirs might have in 119 1/2 acres conveyed to Thomas James by John Washington, Gent., of Westmoreland County on 29 April 1696. 
 

19 Oct. 1716.   Coleman Reed of Westmoreland County leased 100 acres to William Longworth.  The property adjoined that of George Brown. 

1717.  George Brown was part of a jury that went with a surveyor in a land case in 1717. 

6 Sep. 1718.  Coleman Read of Cople Parish sold 200 acres to Peter and William Dunkan.  The property was part of the patent granted Wm. Overitt and George Brown on 22 March 1665, and sold by George Brown to Andrew Read on 19 March 1669. 

703
Frances ROWLAND

1656/1657.  Margaret Miles [later the wife of William Overed] received a grant of 1200 acres of land in Westmoreland County, VA, on 1 Feb. 1656/57 for transporting 24 persons to Virginia.  A partial list of those persons transported by Margaret Miles is given at the end of the patent, and the persons listed there are as follows:  
· Margaret Miles 
· Francis Roland 
· Sarah Smith 
· Katharine Russell 
· Jane Leeth [Leath?] 
· Abraham Foiles 
· John Tushan(?) 
· Walter Morgan 
· Thomas Powell 
· George Watts and his wife Cheespean(?) Sooker [Sookes?, Lookes?, Looker?] 
· Mandeff Kasly.
  
It is likely that the "Francis Roland" in the list is actually Frances Rowland.

12 July 1662.  William Overed of Nomenie in Northumberland County, planter, gave five cows to his "daughter-in-law," Frances Browne (nee Rowland) who had intermarried with George Browne, a tailor, and to her husband.  This gift was witnessed by John Ryves and Richard Fowke, and was recorded 28 Aug. 1662. 

1 Feb. 1662/63.  William Overed of Nomony, planter, gave his "daughter-in-law," Frances Rowland, and her husband, a tailor, 400 acres at the head of the Nomony River.  This was land had been granted William Overed on 10 Sep. 1658.  The deed of gift was witnessed by Thomas Doyce and Thomas Lane.  It was recorded on 11 March 1662/63. 
  

With regard to the previous two transactions, according to "Donald Lines Jacobus on Terms of Relationship," National Genealogical Society Newsletter, Nov/Dec 1986, "daughter-in-law" in earlier times might be used to refer to a stepdaughter. 
20 March 1670.  Frances Browne appointed her friend, William Overed, as her attorney for the sale of 200 acres Westmoreland County, Virginia, by herself and her husband.
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944
Robert COLEMAN 

By 1622.  Born in England.
2 March 1638.  Robert Coleman was listed as a headright of Thomas Symons (see Patent Book I, Part II, p. 624).

August 1646.  Robert Coleman witnessed a gift of cattle by Mary Terry, widow of John Terry, to her sons, when they become 21 years old (see York County, VA, Records, p. 162). 
23 Jan. 1647/48 and 26 Sep. 1648.  Robert Coleman was identified as being owed by the estate of Robert Wilde (see York County, VA, Records, p. 337). 
22 Aug. 1659.  Robert Coleman of Mock Jack bay in Gloucester County purchased 200 acres from Francis Carpenter, who had patented the land on 5 June 1658.  Witnesses were Rice Maddox and Samuel Maddox.  On 14 Jan. 1659/60, the transaction was acknowledged by Rice Maddox, attorney for Francis Carpenter.  The price paid for the land was not specified.  (Recorded in Westmoreland County, VA.) 
18 Mar. 1662.  Robert Coleman  was granted 110 acres on Burnt Creek in Gloucester County, Virginia, adjacent to Daniel Clark, Richard Foster, and his own property for transporting three individuals (see Patent Book 5, p. 352/369). 
18 Mar. 1672.  Robert Coleman was granted 200 acres on a swamp by his Burnt Creek acreage, Daniel Clark, Richard Foster mentioned as living nearby.  Land was for transporting four individuals (see Patent Book 6, p. 34). 
6 Mar. 1674.  Daniel Langham became a neighbor of Robert Coleman by marrying Mary Abbott, according to a Gloucester County deed.  He was living in Abbington Parish. (See Gloucester County Deed Book 6, p. 550.) 
6 May 1682.  Abraham Bradley acquired the deed for 100 acres in Abbington Parish, Gloucester County, Virginia, that had been deserted by Thomas Sewell, beoming a neighbor of Robert Coleman.  (See Polly Cary Mason, Records of Colonial Gloucester Co. VA, Vol. I, or Gloucester Co. Deed Book 7, p. 163.) 
After May 1682.  Died. 
945
Elizabeth GRIZZELL

Some family research asserts that Robert Coleman married Elizabeth Mott.  Sherrianne Coleman Nicol shows that the husband of Elizabeth Mott was an altogether different Robert Coleman. 
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Thomas CHRISTIAN
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950
Edmund NEW

November 1720.  Edmund New received a grant from Virginia of 400 acres in Henrico County on the north side of James River, Begg. &c. on the west side of Little Horsepen Creek.
 

Summer 1726.  Edmund wrote two wills, both of which were entered into the record of Henrico County, Virginia.  The bequests in the two were the same, with the following exceptions: 
· Grandson John New son of “Edmund” New deceased  (presumably Edward New deceased) was not mentioned in the second will (except that he is might be the Jno. New who witnessed the second will) 
· An equal division of his land between daughter Prissilla and son Edmund (with the exception of his apple orchard, which went to Edmund) was mandated in the second will, while specific property was assigned to each as their half in the first will

· The relationships of all beneficiaries to Edmund were specified in the second will, but many relationships were not specified in the first will
· A bond held on Thomas Christian was mentioned in the first will but not in the second.
 
The two wills are summarized below:
Will of Edmund New of “Saint James Parrish,” 4 July 1726: 

Heirs:

· Son Edmund New
· Daughter Prissillo
· Wife Mary New
· Grandson John New son of Edmund New deceased

· Willm. New
· Mary Prier
· Rebeckah Christian
· Sarah Tuly
· Elizabeth Patteson 
· Ann New
· Henry New
Executors:

· Son Edmund New
· Daughter Prissillo
· Wife Mary New
Signed:

·  Edmund New (his mark -- "N")

Witnesses:

· Paul Green
· John Lain
· Hugh Morris
Proved by Paul Green and John Lain on 6 Sept. 1726 and recorded.

Will of Edmund New of “Charlesten Parrish,” 8 Aug. 1726:

Heirs:

· Son Edmund New
· Daughter Prissilla New
· Wife Mary New
· Daughter Mary Prire
· Daughter Rebecker Christian
· Daughter Sarah Tully
· Daughter Elizabeth Patterson
· Son William New
· Daughter Anne New
· Son Henry New
Executors:

· Son Edmund New
· Daughter Prissilla New
· Wife Mary New
Signed:

·  Edmund New (his mark -- backward "N")

Witnesses:

· Jno New
· Thomas Christian
· John Tully
Proved by Thomas Christian on 5 June 1727 and recorded.

The inventory of estate of Edmund New was taken on 1 Feb. 1726 and was presented and recorded in Henrico County on 5 June 1727.  It was as follows

· Sorrell Mare & Colt 



1-10-0 (pounds, shillings, pence)

· Gray Mare 




1-05-0

· Bay Mare & Colt 



1-15-0

· Small Feather Bed 



0-10-0

· Two Basons




0-02-6
· Three Small Dishes



0-04-6
· Small Pot & Pot Racks


0-07-6
· Couch Frame



0-05-0
· Bedstead




0-04-0
· Lumber




0-10-0
· Bay Mare & Colt



1-10-0
· Three Year Old Horse


1-15-0
· Two Year Old Horse



1-10-0
· Four Calves




0-18-0
· Six Cows




6-00-0
· Six Two Year Old Heifers


4-10-0
· Four Sows




1-12-0
· Ten Young Hoggs



2-00-0
· Ten Shoats




1-00-0
· Two Barrows



1-00-0
· Six Young Hoggs



1-04-0

· One Sow




0-08-0

· Two Shoats




0-04-0







31-14-6

951
Mary ???
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956
Thomas MASK

Before 27 Dec. 1657.  "Thomas Masque" was a head right identified in a Virginia land patent granted to Capt. Georg [sic] Lyddall on 27 Dec. 1657.  The other head rights identified in the patent were Wm Hill, Robert Harman, ffrancis Smith, Thomas Smith, Jno Makepeace, Charles Havanest, Penelope Best, Michael Tucker, Roger Parker, Daniell Welch, John Davis, and Tho Jones.
  Based on the patent to Capt. Lyddall, it appears that Thomas Mask arrived in Virginia sometime before 27 Dec. 1657.

15 Feb. 1687/88.  Died, probably in New Kent County, VA.
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960
Hans Cünradt STÄFFEN

11 Oct. 1614.  Hans Cunradt was baptized at the Reformed church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.  His parents were Heini Stäffen and Verena Meier. 

1634.  Hans Cunrath, baptized on 11 Oct. 1614, was included in the household of Joseph Steffen and Ursel Schurter in the 1634 ecclesiastical census of Henggart. 
  
2 June 1635.  Married Barbara Sigg of Adlikon, Canton Zürich, Switzerland, at the Reformed church in Henggart. 

10 July 1636.  Baptism of son Joseph at the Reformed Church, Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

1637.  Hans Cunrath Steffen, Barbel Sigg, child Josephli, baptized 10 Jul. 1636, two individuals from Attlicken, and Magdalena Bessinger made up one of the households included in the 1637 ecclesiastical census of Henggart.
  

3 May 1638.  Baptism of son Hans Heinrich at the Reformed Church, Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

12 Jan. 1640.  Baptism of son Pangratz at the Reformed Church, Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

1640.  Hans Cunrath Steffen, Barbel Sigg, children Josephli, baptized 10 Jul. 1636, Hans Heinrichli, baptized 3 May 1638, and Gratzli, baptized 9 Feb. 1640, and Michel ? and Magdalena Besinger made up one of the households included in the 1640 ecclesiastical census of Henggart. 
  Hans Cunrath was an Ehegaumer [morals monitor] for Henggart (the community had two). 

5 Dec. 1641.  Baptism of son H. Cunrath at the Reformed Church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

1643.  Hans Cunrath Steffen, Margareth Gantz, children Josephli, baptized 10 Jul. 1636, Heinrichli, baptized 3 May 1638, Gratzli, baptized 9 Feb. 1640, and Hans Cunrathli, baptized 5 Dec. 1641, and Magdalena Besinger and Abraham Frauenfelder, baptized 17 May 1619, made up one of the households included in the 1643 ecclesiastical census of Henggart. 
   Margareth Gantz was also included in the household of her husband, Joseph Steffen, brother of Hans Cunrath. 
  Hans Cunrath was a Kilchenpflager [vestryman] of the Reformed church at Henggart (the church had two). 

8  Oct. 1643.  Baptism of son Jacob at the Reformed Church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

7 Oct. 1645.  Baptism of son Gabriel at the Reformed Church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

1646.  Hans Cunrath Steffen, Barbel Sigg, children Joseph, baptized 10 Jul. 1636, Hans Heinrich, baptized 3 May 1638, Gratz, baptized 9 Feb. 1640, Hans Cunrath, baptized 5 Dec. 1641, Jacobli, baptized 8 Oct. 1643, and Gabriel, baptized 7 Oct. 1645, made up one of the households included in the 1646 ecclesiastical census of Henggart. 
   

15 Aug. 1647.  Baptism of daughter Susanna at the Reformed Church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

26 Mar. 1649.  Baptism of son Hans Rudolff at the Reformed Church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

1649.   Hans Cunradt Staffen, Barbara Sigg, and children Joseph, baptized 10 Jul. 1636, Hans Heinrich, baptized 3 May 1638, Gratz, baptized 9 Feb. 1640, Hans Cunradt, baptized 5 Dec. 1641, Jacob, baptized 8 Oct. 1643, Gabriel, baptized 7 Oct. 1645, Sußana, baptized 15 Aug. 1647, and Hans Rudolff, baptized 26 Mar. 1649, made up one of the households included in the 1649 ecclesiastical census of Henggart.

4 Aug. 1651.  Baptism of son Hans Ulrich at the Reformed Church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

25 Sep. 1653.  Baptism of son Sebastian at the Reformed Church in Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

7 Oct. 1655.  Baptism of daughter Barbel at the Reformed Church, Henggart, Canton Zürich, Switzerland.

1657 - 1658.  Birth of son Hans Georg Stäffen. 

1658 - 1663.  Died in Kraichgau region of Germany. 

Aug. 1663.  Jacob Steffen, identified as being from Henggart in Zürich and as being the son of the late Hans Conrad, married in Walldorf, Kraichgau region (Baden), Germany. 

951
Barbara SIGG
1 Jan. 1616.  Baptized in the Reformed parish of Andelfingen, Canton Zürich, Switzerland. 
   She was probably born in Adlikon, Canton Zürich, Switzerland. 
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960
Wilhelm RITTINGHAUSEN ("William RITTENHOUSE")

William Rittenhouse was a paper maker and active Mennonite.  He was born in 1644 in the principality of Broich.  The community of Broich is located near the city of Mülheim, Germany, which is on the Ruhr River (it is now part of that city).  He probably worked in a paper mill in the Broich area before moving to the Netherlands to work in paper mills in that country.  There, in 1665, he married Geertruid Pieters.  The couple had three children, two boys and a girl, Nicholas, Gerhard, and Elisabeth.  In 1679, he became a citizen of the Dutch city of Amsterdam.  In 1688 or 1689, he removed with his family to America, where he settled in Germantown, Pennsylvania.  There, in 1690, he established the first paper mill in America.  In 1690, he also became the first Mennonite minister in America.  He and his wife both died in 1708.

It is sometimes asserted that William was the first Mennonite bishop in America.  This, however, is not true.  While authorized to do so, he never assumed the duties of bishop.

William’s ancestry is currently unknown.  Daniel Kolb Cassel asserted that he was a Habsburg descendant.
  This was shown by Calvin Kephart to be untrue.
  Early writers believed that William came from “Mongowerland” (also “Mongouerland”).
  Some researchers believe that what is being referred to is the area in the vicinity of a community named Monschau (i.e., “Monschauerland”).  Of the several in Germany, the Monshau closest to Broich is the one that is now part of the city of Wuppertal.  One further away that some consider a more likely origin for William is the Monschau that had also been called Montjoie.
  That Monschau was associated with Gelderland.  In 1543, it besieged by the forces of Emperor Charles V as part of his successful campaign to seize the Duchy of Guelders, which included Gelderland.  If William’s ancestors were from Monschau, he might have spoken the local language of Gelderland, Achterhoeks, a variant of Low Saxon
 (Dutch was probably a second language for many in Gelderland at the time that William lived there).
1644.  Born in the principality of Broich near Mülheim an der Ruhr in Germany. 

Before 1665.  May have worked in the paper mill of Adolf Vorster in Brioch, Germany.

Before 1665.  Probably worked in a paper mill with his uncle by marriage Mathijs Vorster in the Coldenhove area of Gelderland in the Netherlands.  Mathijs was married to Ermgard Rittinghausen, a sister of William Rittenhouse’s father.  She died in about 1672.
  

June 1665.  As Willem Claasz from Mullehem and living in Coldenhove, Gelderland, The Netherlands, he married Geertruid Pieters of Eerbeek, Gelderland, the Netherlands, in Loenen, Gelderland, The Netherlands.
  “Claasz” is a patronymic clearly showing that his father was named Claus (or Nicholas). 

15 June 1666.  Son Nicholas (“Claus”) was born in the Netherlands. 
  He married Wilhelmina De Wees at the Dutch Reformed church in New York on 29 May 1689.
  Claus was a papermaker and a Mennonite minister in Germantown, Pennsylvania.  He died in May 1734.

About 1667.  Began working at Het Klooster (The Cloister) paper mill in Eerbeek, Gelderland, the Netherlands.  The mill was built in 1667.  William Rittenhouse may have been one of those with a financial interest in the mill.

1 Feb. 1669.  Willem Rittinkhuysen and wife Geertruid Peters, along with Peter Kersten and wife Claerken Everts, came to an agreement with Jan Petersen Lubberhuysen, the son of Peter Kersten, concerning “…the water serving Peter Kersten’s mill and the paper mill named Het Klooster (The Cloister), at the other side of the brook,” which was Jan’s.

About 1672.  Began working at a paper mill in Rozendaal, the Netherlands.  Mathijis Vorester and William Rittenhouse’s brother, Heinrich Nicolaus (“Claas”) Rittinghausen, who was born in 1648, were also working there.  

1675.  In 1675, Claas Rittinghausen, William Rittenhouse’s brother, married Claesje De Ridder, one of their employer’s daughters.  Petronella De Ridder, another daughter, married Johan Vorster, a son of Mathijs Vorster and Ermgard Rittinghausen.

23 June 1679.  Took oath of citizenship in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. While Henk Voorn, a Dutch paper historian, argues that the correct date is 23 June 1678, the facsimile of the signed oath provided in his article about William Rittenhouse appears to read “23 Junÿ 1679.”

1678 - 1688.  Probably became a Mennonite while living in Amsterdam.  He might have met William Penn during this time.
 

1688 or 1689.  Immigrated to America with wife and three children (Nicholas, Gerhard, and Elizabeth).
 

4 April 1689.  Settled in Germantown, Pennsylvania.  Acquired Lot No. 19, which in 1938 was the “site of the historic Mennonite Church at the northeast corner of Germantown Avenue and Herman Street.”

1690.  Built the first paper mill in Britain’s colonial America.  “The mill was located on a branch of the Wissahickon Creek in what is now Fairmont Park, Philadelphia.”  The mill was destroyed when the stream flooded in the spring of 1700, but was immediately rebuilt.
  Below is a picture of a house on the mill-site. 
  
1690.  Became the first Mennonite minister in America.
  A letter written 1 March 1773 by Pennsylvania Mennonite bishops to Mennonites in The Netherlands says, in part, quoting an earlier document written by Jacob Godschalks, an early Mennonite minister, that “[i]n the year 1690 … was Willem Ruttinghausen, born in Mongouer land, chosen preacher….”

18 Feb. 1708.  Died in Germantown, Pennsylvania.
  
951
Geertruid PIETERS
Geertruid Pieters may have been born in Eerbeek, Gelderland, The Netherlands, in about 1642 to a family of papermakers.  She married William Rittenhouse in 1665 and gave him a daughter and two sons.  In 1688 or 1689, she joined him in removing to America, where her family settled in Germantown, Pennsylvania.  She died in 1708.

About 1642.  Born, possibly in Eerbeek, Gelderland, The Netherlands (birth year is based upon being 66 in February 1708; 
 her birthplace is based on place of origin indicated on marriage record).   
Gelderland was part of the old Duchy of Guelders, which included territory in both what is now Germany and The Netherlands.

An 1867 map showing the localities of Eerbeek and Hall in Gelderland show the location of the Oude Klooster, a paper mill identified with Geertruid’s parents, can be seen southwest of Eerbeek.

About February 1708.  Died in Germantown, Pennsylvania. 
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